

## Promoting excellence:

### standards for medical education and training

Working with doctors Working for patients

General Medical Council

# The duties of a doctor registered with the General Medical Council

Patients must be able to trust doctors with their lives and health. To justify that trust you must show respect for human life and make sure your practice meets the standards expected of you in four domains.

#### Knowledge, skills and performance

- Make the care of your patient your first concern.
- Provide a good standard of practice and care.
  - Keep your professional knowledge and skills up to date.
  - Recognise and work within the limits of your competence.

#### Safety and quality

- Take prompt action if you think that patient safety, dignity or comfort is being compromised.
- Protect and promote the health of patients and the public.

#### Communication, partnership and teamwork

- Treat patients as individuals and respect their dignity.
  - Treat patients politely and considerately.
  - Respect patients' right to confidentiality.
- Work in partnership with patients.
  - Listen to, and respond to, their concerns and preferences.
  - Give patients the information they want or need in a way they can understand.
  - Respect patients' right to reach decisions with you about their treatment and care.
  - Support patients in caring for themselves to improve and maintain their health.
- Work with colleagues in the ways that best serve patients' interests.

#### **Maintaining trust**

- Be honest and open and act with integrity.
- Never discriminate unfairly against patients or colleagues.
- Never abuse your patients' trust in you or the public's trust in the profession.

You are personally accountable for your professional practice and must always be prepared to justify your decisions and actions.

# Promoting excellence: standards for medical education and training

Published 15 July 2015. Comes into effect 1 January 2016.

You can find the latest version of this guidance on our website at **www.gmc-uk.org/education/standards.asp**.

Promoting excellence: standards for medical education and training

### Contents

	Page
About these standards	04
Patient safety is the first priority	05
The ten standards	06
Theme 1: Learning environment and culture	08
Theme 2: Educational governance and leadership	16
Theme 3: Supporting learners	23
Theme 4: Supporting educators	28
Theme 5: Developing and implementing curricula and assessments	31
References	38
Glossary	40

### About these standards

The General Medical Council (GMC) sets the standards and requirements for the delivery of all stages of medical education and training.

*Promoting excellence: standards for medical education and training* sets out ten standards that we expect organisations responsible for educating and training medical students and doctors in the UK to meet.

The standards and requirements are organised around five themes. Some requirements – what an organisation must do to show us they are meeting the standards – may apply to a specific stage of education and training.

*Promoting excellence: standards for medical education and training* replaces the 'standards for delivery of teaching, learning and assessment for undergraduate medical education' in *Tomorrow's Doctors* (2009), and the 'standards for postgraduate training' in *The Trainee Doctor* (2011).

## Patient safety is the first priority

Patient safety is at the core of these standards. Just as good medical students and doctors make the care of their patients their first concern, so must the organisations that educate and train medical students and doctors. In non-clinical learning environments, there should also be a culture of promoting patient safety.

We set out the professional values, knowledge, skills and behaviours required of all doctors working in the UK in *Good medical practice*.<sup>1</sup> We also expect medical students to meet these standards when they have contact with patients. The learner's<sup>\*</sup> ability to develop the appropriate professional values, knowledge, skills and behaviours is influenced by the learning environment and culture in which they are educated and trained.

Patient safety runs through our standards and requirements. Patient safety is inseparable from a good learning environment and culture that values and supports learners and educators. Where our standards previously focused on protecting patients from any risk posed by medical students and doctors in training, we will now make sure that education and training takes place where patients are safe, the care and experience of patients is good, and education and training are valued.

<sup>\*</sup> Learners are medical students and doctors in training.

### The ten standards

#### THEME 1 Learning environment and culture

S1.1 The learning environment is safe for patients and supportive for learners and educators. The culture is caring, compassionate and provides a good standard of care and experience for patients, carers and families.

05

04

**S1.2** The learning environment and organisational culture value and support education and training so that learners are able to demonstrate what is expected in *Good medical practice* and to achieve the learning outcomes required by their curriculum.\*

#### THEME 5 Developing and implementing curricula and assessments

- **S5.1** Medical school curricula and assessments are developed and implemented so that medical students are able to achieve the learning outcomes required for graduates.
- **S5.2** Postgraduate curricula and assessments are implemented so that doctors in training are able to demonstrate what is expected in *Good medical practice* and to achieve the learning outcomes required by their curriculum.

#### THEME 4 Supporting educators

- S4.1 Educators are selected, inducted, trained, and appraised to reflect their education and training responsibilities.
- S4.2 Educators receive the support, resources and time to meet their education and training responsibilities.



#### THEME 2 Educational governance and leadership

- S2.1 The educational governance system continuously improves the quality and outcomes of education and training by measuring performance against the standards, demonstrating accountability, and responding when standards are not being met.
- **S2.2** The educational and clinical governance systems are integrated, allowing organisations to address concerns about patient safety, the standard of care, and the standard of education and training.
- **S2.3** The educational governance system makes sure that education and training is fair and is based on principles of equality and diversity.

#### THEME 3 Supporting learners

S3.1 Learners receive educational and pastoral support to be able to demonstrate what is expected in *Good medical practice* and to achieve the learning outcomes required by their curriculum.

\* For undergraduate education, the learning outcomes for graduates (*Tomorrow's Doctors*)<sup>2</sup> and for postgraduate training, the curriculum approved by the General Medical Council.

03

## Theme 1: Learning environment and culture

#### Purpose

This theme is about making sure that the environment and culture for education and training meets learners' and educators' needs, is safe, open, and provides a good standard of care and experience for patients.

Education and training should be a valued part of the organisational culture. Learners will have a good educational experience and educators will be valued where there is an organisational commitment to, and support for, learning. High quality organisations will promote excellence in education.

The clinical learning environment is multiprofessional, so an effective learning culture will value and support learners from all professional groups.

#### Responsibility

Local education providers (LEPs) – specifically the leadership at board level or equivalent – provide the learning environment and culture. They are accountable for how they use the resources they receive to support medical education and training. They are responsible for taking action when concerns are raised that impact on patient safety. They work with postgraduate deaneries, local education and training boards (LETBs) and medical schools in recognising and rewarding trainers.<sup>3</sup> Postgraduate deaneries, LETBs and medical schools make sure that medical education and training takes place in an environment and culture that meets these standards, within their own organisation and through effective quality management of contracts, agreements and local quality control mechanisms. They work together to respond when patient safety and training concerns are associated.

#### Standards

- S1.1 The learning environment is safe for patients and supportive for learners and educators. The culture is caring, compassionate and provides a good standard of care and experience for patients, carers and families.
- **S1.2** The learning environment and organisational culture value and support education and training so that learners are able to demonstrate what is expected in *Good medical practice* and to achieve the learning outcomes required by their curriculum.\*

<sup>\*</sup> For undergraduate education, the learning outcomes for graduates are set out in *Tomorrow's Doctors*.<sup>2</sup> For postgraduate training, the curriculum is approved by the General Medical Council.

#### Requirements

- R1.1 Organisations\* must demonstrate a culture that allows learners and educators to raise concerns about patient safety, and the standard of care or of education and training, openly and safely without fear of adverse consequences.<sup>4</sup>
- **R1.2** Organisations must investigate and take appropriate action locally to make sure concerns are properly dealt with. Concerns affecting the safety of patients or learners must be addressed immediately and effectively.
- R1.3 Organisations must demonstrate a culture that investigates and learns from mistakes and reflects on incidents and near misses.Learning will be facilitated through effective reporting mechanisms, feedback and local clinical governance activities.
- **R1.4** Organisations must demonstrate a learning environment and culture that supports learners to be open and honest with patients when things go wrong known as their professional duty of candour and help them to develop the skills to communicate with tact, sensitivity and empathy.
- R1.5 Organisations must demonstrate a culture that both seeks and responds to feedback from learners and educators on compliance with standards of patient safety and care, and on education and training.

<sup>\*</sup> Organisations that are responsible for the learning environment and culture.

- **R1.6** Organisations must make sure that learners know about the local processes for educational and clinical governance and local protocols for clinical activities. They must make sure learners know what to do if they have concerns about the quality of care, and they should encourage learners to engage with these processes.
- **R1.7** Organisations must make sure there are enough staff members who are suitably qualified, so that learners have appropriate clinical supervision, working patterns and workload, for patients to receive care that is safe and of a good standard, while creating the required learning opportunities.
- **R1.8** Organisations must make sure that learners have an appropriate level of clinical supervision at all times by an experienced and competent supervisor, who can advise or attend as needed. The level of supervision must fit the individual learner's competence, confidence and experience. The support and clinical supervision must be clearly outlined to the learner and the supervisor.

Foundation doctors must at all times have on-site access to a senior colleague who is suitably qualified to deal with problems that may arise during the session.<sup>\*</sup> Medical students on placement must be supervised, with closer supervision when they are at lower levels of competence.

<sup>\*</sup> This will normally be a doctor, but on some placements it may be appropriate for a senior healthcare professional to take on this role.

- **R1.9** Learners' responsibilities for patient care must be appropriate for their stage of education and training. Supervisors must determine a learner's level of competence, confidence and experience and provide an appropriately graded level of clinical supervision.
- **R1.10** Organisations must have a reliable way of identifying learners at different stages of education and training, and make sure all staff members take account of this, so that learners are not expected to work beyond their competence.
- **R1.11** Doctors in training must take consent only for procedures appropriate for their level of competence. Learners must act in accordance with General Medical Council (GMC) guidance on consent.<sup>5</sup> Supervisors must assure themselves that a learner understands any proposed intervention for which they will take consent, its risks and alternative treatment options.
- R1.12 Organisations must design rotas to:
  - a make sure doctors in training have appropriate clinical supervision
  - b support doctors in training to develop the professional values, knowledge, skills and behaviours required of all doctors working in the UK
  - c provide learning opportunities that allow doctors in training to meet the requirements of their curriculum and training programme
  - d give doctors in training access to educational supervisors
  - e minimise the adverse effects of fatigue and workload.

- **R1.13** Organisations must make sure learners have an induction in preparation for each placement that clearly sets out:
  - a their duties and supervision arrangements
  - b their role in the team
  - c how to gain support from senior colleagues
  - d the clinical or medical guidelines and workplace policies they must follow
  - e how to access clinical and learning resources.

As part of the process, learners must meet their team and other health and social care professionals they will be working with. Medical students on observational visits at early stages of their medical degree should have clear guidance about the placement and their role.

- **R1.14** Handover<sup>\*</sup> of care must be organised and scheduled to provide continuity of care for patients and maximise the learning opportunities for doctors in training in clinical practice.
- **R1.15** Organisations must make sure that work undertaken by doctors in training provides learning opportunities and feedback on performance, and gives an appropriate breadth of clinical experience.

<sup>\*</sup> Handover at the start and end of periods of day or night duties, every day of the week.

- **R1.16** Doctors in training must have protected time for learning while they are doing clinical or medical work, or during academic training, and for attending organised educational sessions, training days, courses and other learning opportunities to meet the requirements of their curriculum. In timetabled educational sessions, doctors in training must not be interrupted for service unless there is an exceptional and unanticipated clinical need to maintain patient safety.
- **R1.17** Organisations must support every learner to be an effective member of the multiprofessional team by promoting a culture of learning and collaboration between specialties and professions.
- **R1.18** Organisations must make sure that assessment is valued and that learners and educators are given adequate time and resources to complete the assessments required by the curriculum.
- **R1.19** Organisations must have the capacity, resources and facilities<sup>\*</sup> to deliver safe and relevant learning opportunities, clinical supervision and practical experiences for learners required by their curriculum or training programme and to provide the required educational supervision and support.
- **R1.20** Learners must have access to technology enhanced and simulationbased learning opportunities within their training programme as required by their curriculum.

<sup>\*</sup> Resources and facilities may include: IT systems so learners can access online curricula, workplacebased assessments, supervised learning events and learning portfolios; libraries and knowledge services; information resources; physical space; support staff; and patient safety orientated tools.

- **R1.21** Organisations must make sure learners are able to meet with their educational supervisor or, in the case of medical students, their personal adviser as frequently as required by their curriculum or training programme.
- **R1.22** Organisations must support learners and educators to undertake activity that drives improvement in education and training to the benefit of the wider health service.

## Theme 2: Educational governance and leadership

#### Purpose

This theme is about making sure that organisations have effective systems of educational governance and leadership to manage and control the quality of medical education and training.

These systems should treat learners according to principles of safety, equality and fairness. They should ensure appropriate assessment, manage learners' progression, and share outcomes of education and training programmes. It is in the public and patients' interests that there is effective, robust, transparent and fair oversight of education and training.

Information should be shared across educational and clinical governance systems to identify risk to patient safety and the quality of education and training, and to ensure transparency and accountability.

#### Responsibility

All organisations must demonstrate leadership of medical education and training through effective educational governance. Working together, they should integrate educational, clinical and medical governance to keep patients and learners safe and create an appropriate learning environment and organisational culture.

Postgraduate deaneries and LETBs manage the quality and funding of postgraduate training programmes provided by LEPs in their regions.

Medical schools (and the universities of which they are a part) manage and control the quality of education leading to the award of their primary medical qualifications. They make sure LEPs appropriately educate their medical students by providing appropriate placements.

LEPs control the organisational culture and the quality of education and training in their local organisations. An executive must be accountable for educational governance, and those in educational leadership roles must have demonstrable educational credibility and capability.

Colleges, faculties and specialty associations develop and maintain curricula and assessment frameworks according to the standards for curricula and assessment set by the GMC.<sup>6</sup> Colleges, faculties and specialty associations are responsible for the quality of approved curricula and exams. They work in partnership with national bodies, postgraduate deaneries, LETBs and LEPs to select learners to training programmes.

#### Standards

- S2.1 The educational governance system continuously improves the quality and outcomes of education and training by measuring performance against the standards, demonstrating accountability, and responding when standards are not being met.
- S2.2 The educational and clinical governance systems are integrated, allowing organisations to address concerns about patient safety, the standard of care, and the standard of education and training.
- **S2.3** The educational governance system makes sure that education and training is fair and is based on principles of equality and diversity.

#### Requirements

- R2.1 Organisations\* must have effective, transparent and clearly understood educational governance systems and processes to manage or control the quality of medical education and training.
- **R2.2** Organisations must clearly demonstrate accountability for educational governance in the organisation at board level or equivalent. The governing body must be able to show they are meeting the standards for the quality of medical education and training within their organisation and responding appropriately to concerns.

<sup>\*</sup> Organisations that are responsible for educational governance.

- **R2.3** Organisations must consider the impact on learners of policies, systems or processes. They must take account of the views of learners, educators and, where appropriate, patients, the public, and employers. This is particularly important when services are being redesigned.
- **R2.4** Organisations must regularly evaluate and review the curricula and assessment frameworks, education and training programmes and placements they are responsible for to make sure standards are being met and to improve the quality of education and training.
- R2.5 Organisations must evaluate information about learners' performance, progression and outcomes – such as the results of exams and assessments – by collecting, analysing and using data on quality and on equality and diversity.
- **R2.6** Medical schools, postgraduate deaneries and LETBs must have agreements with LEPs to provide education and training to meet the standards. They must have systems and processes to monitor the quality of teaching, support, facilities and learning opportunities on placements, and must respond when standards are not being met.
- **R2.7** Organisations must have a system for raising concerns about education and training within the organisation. They must investigate and respond when such concerns are raised, and this must involve feedback to the individuals who raised the concerns.

- **R2.8** Organisations must share and report information about quality management and quality control of education and training with other bodies that have educational governance responsibilities. This is to identify risk, improve quality locally and more widely, and to identify good practice.
- **R2.9** Organisations must collect, manage and share all necessary data and reports to meet GMC approval requirements.
- **R2.10** Organisations responsible for managing and providing education and training must monitor how educational resources are allocated and used, including ensuring time in trainers' job plans.
- **R2.11** Organisations must have systems and processes to make sure learners have appropriate supervision. Educational and clinical governance must be integrated so that learners do not pose a safety risk, and education and training takes place in a safe environment and culture.
- **R2.12** Organisations must have systems to manage learners' progression, with input from a range of people, to inform decisions about their progression.
- **R2.13** Medical schools must have one or more doctors at the school who oversee medical students' educational progression. They must have one or more doctors at each LEP who coordinate training of medical students, supervise their activities, and make sure these activities are of educational value.<sup>3</sup>

- **R2.14** Organisations must make sure that each doctor in training has access to a named clinical supervisor who oversees the doctor's clinical work throughout a placement. The clinical supervisor leads on reviewing the doctor's clinical or medical practice throughout a placement, and contributes to the educational supervisor's report on whether the doctor should progress to the next stage of their training.<sup>3</sup>
- **R2.15** Organisations must make sure that each doctor in training has access to a named educational supervisor who is responsible for the overall supervision and management of a doctor's educational progress during a placement or a series of placements. The educational supervisor regularly meets with the doctor in training to help plan their training, review progress and achieve agreed learning outcomes. The educational supervisor is responsible for the educational agreement, and for bringing together all relevant evidence to form a summative judgement about progression at the end of the placement or a series of placements.<sup>3</sup>
- **R2.16** Organisations must have systems and processes to identify, support and manage learners when there are concerns about a learner's professionalism, progress, performance, health or conduct that may affect a learner's wellbeing or patient safety.<sup>7</sup>
- **R2.17** Organisations must have a process for sharing information between all relevant organisations whenever they identify safety, wellbeing or fitness to practise concerns about a learner, particularly when a learner is progressing to the next stage of training.

- **R2.18** Medical schools (and the universities of which they are a part) must have a process to make sure that only those medical students who are fit to practise as doctors are permitted to graduate with a primary medical qualification. Medical students who do not meet the outcomes for graduates or who are not fit to practise must not be allowed to graduate with a medical degree or continue on a medical programme. Universities must make sure that their regulations allow compliance by medical schools with GMC requirements with respect to primary medical qualifications. Medical schools must investigate and take action when there are concerns about the fitness to practise of medical students, in line with GMC guidance. Doctors in training who do not satisfactorily complete a programme for provisionally registered doctors must not be signed off to apply for full registration with the GMC.
- **R2.19** Organisations must have systems to make sure that education and training comply with all relevant legislation.
- **R2.20** Organisations must make sure that recruitment, selection and appointment of learners and educators are open, fair and transparent.

## Theme 3: Supporting learners

#### Purpose

This theme is about making sure learners get effective educational and pastoral support, so they can demonstrate what is expected in *Good medical practice* and achieve the learning outcomes required by their curriculum.

#### Responsibility

Postgraduate deaneries, LETBs, and medical schools provide and manage structures and systems of support for learners. They provide appropriate support to ensure the health and wellbeing of their learners.

LEPs provide support and learning opportunities for learners, making available the facilities, staff and practical support needed to deliver the clinical parts of the curriculum or training programme.

Learners are responsible for their own learning and achieving the learning outcomes required by their curriculum. They should take part in structured support opportunities for learners. Learners must make care of patients their first concern and must not compromise safety and care of patients by their performance, health or conduct. Learners have a duty to follow the guidance in *Good medical practice* and must understand the consequences if they fail to do so.

#### Standard

**S3.1** Learners receive educational and pastoral support to be able to demonstrate what is expected in *Good medical practice* and to achieve the learning outcomes required by their curriculum.

#### Requirements

- **R3.1** Learners must be supported to meet professional standards, as set out in *Good medical practice* and other standards and guidance that uphold the medical profession. Learners must have a clear way to raise ethical concerns.
- **R3.2** Learners must have access to resources to support their health and wellbeing, and to educational and pastoral support, including:
  - a confidential counselling services
  - b careers advice and support
  - c occupational health services.

Learners must be encouraged to take responsibility for looking after their own health and wellbeing.

**R3.3** Learners must not be subjected to, or subject others to, behaviour that undermines their professional confidence, performance or self-esteem.

- **R3.4** Organisations must make reasonable adjustments for disabled learners, in line with the *Equality Act 2010*.\* Organisations must make sure learners have access to information about reasonable adjustments, with named contacts.
- **R3.5** Learners must receive information and support to help them move between different stages of education and training. The needs of disabled learners must be considered, especially when they are moving from medical school to postgraduate training, and on clinical placements.
- **R3.6** When learners progress from medical school to foundation training they must be supported by a period of shadowing<sup>†</sup> that is separate from, and follows, the student assistantship. This should take place as close to the point of employment as possible, ideally in the same placement that the medical student will start work as a doctor. Shadowing should allow the learner to become familiar with their new working environment and involve tasks in which the learner can use their knowledge, skills and capabilities in the working environment they will join, including out of hours.
- **R3.7** Learners must receive timely and accurate information about their curriculum, assessment and clinical placements.

<sup>\*</sup> The Equality Act 2010 does not apply to Northern Ireland. The Equality Act 2010 is in force in the rest of the UK, but the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and the Special Educational Needs and Disability (NI) Order 2005 remain in force in Northern Ireland.

<sup>+</sup> Shadowing is coordinated and arranged across the UK as part of the transition from medical school to the Foundation Programme.

- **R3.8** Doctors in training must have information about academic opportunities in their programme or specialty and be supported to pursue an academic career if they have the appropriate skills and aptitudes and are inclined to do so.
- **R3.9** Medical students must have appropriate support while studying outside medical school, including on electives, and on return to the medical programme.
- **R3.10** Doctors in training must have access to systems and information to support less than full-time training.
- **R3.11** Doctors in training must have appropriate support on returning to a programme following a career break.
- **R3.12** Doctors in training must be able to take study leave appropriate to their curriculum or training programme, to the maximum time permitted in their terms and conditions of service.
- **R3.13** Learners must receive regular, constructive and meaningful feedback on their performance, development and progress at appropriate points in their medical course or training programme, and be encouraged to act on it. Feedback should come from educators, other doctors, health and social care professionals and, where possible, patients, families and carers.

- **R3.14** Learners whose progress, performance, health or conduct gives rise to concerns must be supported where reasonable to overcome these concerns and, if needed, given advice on alternative career options.
- **R3.15** Learners must not progress if they fail to meet the required learning outcomes for graduates or approved postgraduate curricula.
- **R3.16** Medical students who are not able to complete a medical qualification or to achieve the learning outcomes required for graduates must be given advice on alternative career options, including pathways to gain a qualification if this is appropriate. Doctors in training who are not able to complete their training pathway should be given career advice.

## Theme 4: Supporting educators

#### Purpose

This theme is about making sure that educators have the necessary knowledge and skills for their role, and get the support and resources they need to deliver effective education and training.

#### Responsibility

Postgraduate deaneries, LETBs, and medical schools make sure that educators have the necessary knowledge and skills, support and resources they need for their role. Postgraduate deans and medical schools – as education organisers<sup>\*</sup> – have to meet GMC requirements<sup>3</sup> for formally recognising and approving medical trainers in four specific roles.<sup>†</sup>

LEPs provide support and resources for educators. LEPs must work with postgraduate deaneries, LETBs and medical schools in recognising and rewarding trainers.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>\*</sup> Education organisers are the bodies responsible for recognising trainers.

<sup>†</sup> The four roles are: those who oversee medical students' progress at each medical school; lead coordinators for undergraduate education at each LEP; and named educational supervisors and named clinical supervisors for postgraduate training. The four roles will be fully recognised by 31 July 2016.

Educators are responsible for engaging positively with training, support and appraisal relating to their role, and are accountable for the resources they receive to support education and training. They must act in line with professional guidance for all doctors – they must be positive role models demonstrating good medical practice.<sup>8</sup> They are expected to maintain and continue to develop knowledge and skills on an ongoing basis through continuing professional development. Educators are involved in and contribute to the learning environment and culture.

Medical trainers in the four specific roles are responsible for complying with the arrangements set out by medical schools and postgraduate deans to meet GMC requirements for recognising and approving trainers.<sup>3</sup>

#### Standards

- **S4.1** Educators are selected, inducted, trained and appraised to reflect their education and training responsibilities.
- **S4.2** Educators receive the support, resources and time to meet their education and training responsibilities.

#### Requirements

- **R4.1** Educators must be selected against suitable criteria and receive an appropriate induction to their role, access to appropriately funded professional development and training for their role, and an appraisal against their educational responsibilities.
- **R4.2** Trainers must have enough time in job plans to meet their educational responsibilities so that they can carry out their role in a way that promotes safe and effective care and a positive learning experience.
- **R4.3** Educators must have access to appropriately funded resources they need to meet the requirements of the training programme or curriculum.
- **R4.4** Organisations must support educators by dealing effectively with concerns or difficulties they face as part of their educational responsibilities.
- **R4.5** Organisations must support educators to liaise with each other to make sure they have a consistent approach to education and training, both locally and across specialties and professions.
- **R4.6** Trainers in the four specific roles must be developed and supported, as set out in GMC requirements for recognising and approving trainers.<sup>3</sup>

# Theme 5: Developing and implementing curricula and assessments

#### Purpose

The GMC's statutory responsibilities for regulating curricula and assessments are different according to the stage of training. This theme is about making sure medical school and postgraduate curricula and assessments are developed and implemented to meet GMC outcome or approval requirements.

#### Responsibility

The GMC sets the learning outcomes required of medical students when they graduate<sup>2</sup> and the standards that medical schools must meet when teaching, assessing and providing learning opportunities for medical students.

Medical schools develop and implement curricula and assessments to make sure that medical graduates can demonstrate these outcomes. Medical schools, in partnership with LEPs, also make sure that clinical placements give medical students the learning opportunities they need to meet these outcomes. Medical schools are responsible for the quality of assessments including those done on their behalf. Medical schools make sure only medical students who demonstrate all the learning outcomes are permitted to graduate.

Colleges, faculties, specialty associations and other organisations develop postgraduate curricula and assessments, and the GMC approves them against the standards for curricula and assessment systems.<sup>6</sup>

Postgraduate deaneries and LETBs make sure that LEPs are meeting the requirements for delivering postgraduate curricula and assessments, and that training programmes and placements enable the doctor in training to demonstrate what is expected in *Good medical practice* and to achieve the learning outcomes required by their curriculum.

#### Standards

- **S5.1** Medical school curricula and assessments are developed and implemented so that medical students are able to achieve the learning outcomes required for graduates.
- **S5.2** Postgraduate curricula and assessments are implemented so that doctors in training are able to demonstrate what is expected in *Good medical practice* and to achieve the learning outcomes required by their curriculum.

#### Requirements

#### Undergraduate curricula

**R5.1** Medical school curricula must be planned and show how students can meet the outcomes for graduates across the whole programme.

- **R5.2** The development of medical school curricula must be informed by medical students, doctors in training, educators, employers, other health and social care professionals and patients, families and carers.
- R5.3 Medical school curricula must give medical students:
  - a early contact with patients that increases in duration and responsibility as students progress through the programme
  - experience in a range of specialties, in different settings, with the diversity of patient groups that they would see when working as a doctor
  - c the opportunity to support and follow patients through their care pathway
  - d the opportunity to gain knowledge and understanding of the needs of patients from diverse social, cultural and ethnic backgrounds, with a range of illnesses or conditions and with protected characteristics
  - e learning opportunities that integrate basic and clinical science, enabling them to link theory and practice
  - f the opportunity to choose areas they are interested in studying while demonstrating the learning outcomes required for graduates
  - g learning opportunities enabling them to develop generic professional capabilities
  - h at least one student assistantship during which they assist a doctor in training with defined duties under appropriate supervision, and lasting long enough to enable the medical student to become part of the team. The student assistantship must help prepare the student to start working as a foundation doctor and must include exposure to out-of-hours on-call work.

#### Undergraduate programmes and clinical placements

- **R5.4** Medical school programmes must give medical students:
  - a sufficient practical experience to achieve the learning outcomes required for graduates
  - **b** an educational induction to make sure they understand the curriculum and how their placement fits within the programme
  - c the opportunity to develop their clinical, medical and practical skills and generic professional capabilities through technology enhanced learning opportunities, with the support of teachers, before using skills in a clinical situation
  - d experiential learning in clinical settings, both real and simulated, that increases in complexity in line with the curriculum
  - e the opportunity to work and learn with other health and social care professionals and students to support interprofessional multidisciplinary working
  - f placements that enable them to become members of the multidisciplinary team, and to allow team members to make reliable judgements about their abilities, performance and progress.

#### Undergraduate assessment

**R5.5** Medical schools must assess medical students against the learning outcomes required for graduates at appropriate points. Medical schools must be sure that medical students can meet all the outcomes before graduation. Medical schools must not grant dispensation to students from meeting the standards of competence required for graduates.

- **R5.6** Medical schools must set fair, reliable and valid assessments that allow them to decide whether medical students have achieved the learning outcomes required for graduates.
- **R5.7** Assessments must be mapped to the curriculum and appropriately sequenced to match progression through the education and training pathway.
- **R5.8** Assessments must be carried out by someone with appropriate expertise in the area being assessed, and who has been appropriately selected, supported and appraised. They are responsible for honestly and effectively assessing the medical student's performance and being able to justify their decision.

#### Postgraduate curricula

The development of postgraduate curricula is addressed in the standards for curricula and assessment.  $^{\rm 6}$ 

#### Postgraduate training programmes and clinical placements

- **R5.9** Postgraduate training programmes must give doctors in training:
  - a training posts that deliver the curriculum and assessment requirements set out in the approved curriculum
  - **b** sufficient practical experience to achieve and maintain the clinical or medical competences (or both) required by their curriculum
  - c an educational induction to make sure they understand their curriculum and how their post or clinical placement fits within the programme
  - d the opportunity to develop their clinical, medical and practical skills and generic professional capabilities through technology enhanced learning opportunities, with the support of trainers, before using skills in a clinical situation
  - e the opportunity to work and learn with other members on the team to support interprofessional multidisciplinary working
  - f regular, useful meetings with their clinical and educational supervisors
  - g placements that are long enough to allow them to become members of the multidisciplinary team, and to allow team members to make reliable judgements about their abilities, performance and progress
  - h a balance between providing services and accessing educational and training opportunities. Services will focus on patient needs, but the work undertaken by doctors in training should support learning opportunities wherever possible.<sup>9</sup> Education and training should not be compromised by the demands of regularly carrying out routine tasks or out-of-hours cover that do not support learning and have little educational or training value.

#### Postgraduate assessment

- **R5.10** Assessments must be mapped to the requirements of the approved curriculum and appropriately sequenced to match doctors' progression through their education and training.
- **R5.11** Assessments must be carried out by someone with appropriate expertise in the area being assessed, and who has been appropriately selected, supported and appraised. They are responsible for honestly and effectively assessing the doctor in training's performance and being able to justify their decision. Educators must be trained and calibrated in the assessments they are required to conduct.

#### **Reasonable adjustments**

**R5.12** Organisations must make reasonable adjustments to help disabled learners meet the standards of competence in line with the *Equality Act 2010*, although the standards of competence themselves cannot be changed. Reasonable adjustments may be made to the way that the standards are assessed or performed (except where the method of performance is part of the competence to be attained), and to how curricula and clinical placements are delivered.

# References

- 1 General Medical Council (2013) *Good medical practice* available at: www.gmc-uk.org/gmp (accessed 22 June 2015)
- 2 General Medical Council (2015) *Outcomes for graduates (Tomorrow's Doctors)* available at: **www.gmc-uk.org/undergrad\_outcomes** (accessed 22 June 2015)
- 3 General Medical Council (2012) *Recognising and approving trainers: the implementation plan* available at: **www.gmc-uk.org/education/10264.asp** (accessed 22 June 2015)
- 4 General Medical Council (2012) *Raising and acting on concerns about patient safety* available at: **www.gmc-uk.org/raisingconcerns** (accessed 22 June 2015), paragraph 9
- 5 General Medical Council (2008) Consent: patients and doctors making decisions together available at: www.gmc-uk.org/consent (accessed 22 June 2015)
- 6 General Medical Council (2010) Standards for curricula and assessment systems available at: www.gmc-uk.org/education/postgraduate/ standards\_for\_curricula\_and\_assessment\_systems.asp (accessed 22 June 2015)

- 7 General Medical Council (2013) Supporting medical students with mental health conditions available at www.gmc-uk.org/education/ undergraduate/23289.asp (accessed 22 June 2015)
- 8 General Medical Council (2012) *Leadership and management for all doctors* available at: **www.gmc-uk.org/leadership** (accessed 22 June 2015)
- 9 Academy of Medical Royal Colleges (2014) A charter for postgraduate medical training: value of the doctor in training available at: www.aomrc. org.uk/publications/reports-a-guidance (accessed 22 June 2015)

# Glossary

## **Clinical governance**

Clinical governance is the system through which National Health Service (NHS) organisations are accountable for continuously monitoring and improving the quality of their care and services, and for safeguarding the high standard of care and services.

### **Doctor in training**

This is the GMC's preferred term for a doctor participating in an approved postgraduate training programme (Foundation Programme or specialty including general practice training).

#### **Education organisers**

Education organisers are postgraduate deans and medical schools who are responsible for recognising trainers in four specific roles, in accordance with our requirements for recognising and approving trainers. Education organisers work together to recognise trainers where there is overlap between the groups of trainers.

### **Educational governance**

Educational governance is the systems and standards through which organisations control their educational activities and demonstrate accountability for and the continuous improvement of the quality of education. Educational governance may be part of a wider, integrated governance framework comprising elements such as clinical audit, risk management and organisational development, which fall within the responsibility of other regulators, and are outside the direct scope of these standards. However, an indicator of how effective educational governance is could be how well integrated these elements are within the overall governance of the organisation.

#### **Educators**

Individuals with a role in teaching, training, assessing and supervising learners. This includes:

- a individuals in a recognised and approved trainer role
- **b** other doctors or healthcare professionals involved in education and training in the course of their daily clinical or medical practice
- c academic staff from a range of disciplines with a role in education and training.

Educators may also include patients and members of the public who have roles in medical teaching or training, and other people whose knowledge, experience or expertise is used in teaching or training.

# Lead coordinators at each LEP

One or more doctors at each LEP who are responsible for coordinating the training of medical students, supervising their activities and making sure these activities are of educational value.

All lead coordinators at each LEP must be recognised by their medical school by 31 July 2016.

#### Learners

Learners are medical students receiving education leading to a primary medical qualification and doctors in postgraduate training leading to a certificate of completion of training (CCT). Doctors and students undertaking other forms of training and education, such as a fellowship, will also be learning, but are not covered by these standards for medical education and training. These standards do not cover continuing professional development that all doctors across the UK do to keep their knowledge and skills up to date throughout their working life.

#### Learning outcomes

The competences that a learner must acquire by the end of a period of education or training. The learning outcomes required of medical students when they graduate are set by the GMC.

# Local education and training boards (LETBs)

In England, the roles of the postgraduate dean and deanery sit within LETBs.

# Local education providers (LEPs)

LEPs are the organisations responsible for the learning environment and culture (usually clinical) in which training is taking place, whether in primary, secondary, community or academic placements. LEPs include health boards, NHS trusts, independent sector organisations and any other service providers that host and employ medical students and doctors in training.

## **Medical trainer**

A medical trainer is an appropriately trained and experienced doctor who is responsible for educating and training medical students or doctors in training within an environment of medical practice.

Four medical trainer roles are performed only by recognised or approved trainers who are registered doctors holding a licence to practise. The arrangements do not cover other doctors whose practice contributes to teaching, training, assessing or supervising medical students or doctors in training, but whose role does not need to be formally recognised.

# Named clinical supervisor

A named clinical supervisor is a trainer who is responsible for overseeing a specific doctor in training's clinical work throughout a placement in a clinical or medical environment and is appropriately trained to do so. The named clinical supervisor leads on providing a review of the doctor in training's clinical or medical practice throughout a placement, and contributes to the educational supervisor's report on whether the doctor should progress to the next stage of their training.

All named clinical supervisors must be recognised by their postgraduate dean by 31 July 2016.

## Named educational supervisor

A named educational supervisor is a trainer who is selected and appropriately trained to be responsible for the overall supervision and management of a specific doctor's educational progress during a placement or a series of placements. The named educational supervisor regularly meets with the doctor in training to help plan their training, review progress and achieve agreed learning outcomes. The named educational supervisor is responsible for the educational agreement, and for bringing together all relevant evidence to form a summative judgement about the doctor's progression at the end of a placement or a series of placements.

All named educational supervisors must be recognised by their postgraduate dean by 31 July 2016.

## Organisations

Organisations that manage or deliver medical education or training to learners, usually medical schools, postgraduate deaneries or LETBs, LEPs and colleges, faculties and specialty associations. These organisations must meet our standards for medical education and training.

## Overseeing students' progress

One or more doctors at a medical school who are responsible for overseeing students' progression. They might be NHS consultants or clinical academics acting as block or course coordinators.

Those responsible for overseeing students' progress at each medical school must be recognised by their medical school by 31 July 2016.

#### Placement

A structured period of experience and learning in a particular specialty or area of practice in a health or social care setting.

### Postgraduate dean

In England, the roles of the postgraduate dean and deanery sit within LETBs. In Northern Ireland, these roles are held by the Northern Ireland Medical and Dental Training Agency. In Scotland, the postgraduate deans and the Scotland Deanery are part of NHS Education for Scotland. In Wales, the postgraduate dean is part of the Wales Deanery (School of Postgraduate Medical and Dental Education), Cardiff University. These are the UK bodies that the GMC has authorised to manage approved training programmes and the training posts within them according to GMC standards.

#### Primary medical qualification

In relation to UK graduates, a first medical degree awarded by a body or combination of bodies that is recognised by the GMC for this purpose, or that was empowered to issue primary medical qualifications at the time the degree was awarded.

### **Recognised trainers**

Medical trainers formally recognised by postgraduate deans and medical schools according to our requirements for recognising and approving medical trainers in four specific roles.

Our statutory role to approve general practice trainers remains in place.

### Student

A medical student is an undergraduate receiving training or learning from a trainer, and who is working towards an undergraduate medical degree, even if they already hold a non-medical degree. Students are not registered with the GMC and cannot perform activities legally restricted to registered doctors with a licence to practise.

### Training programme

A formal alignment or rotation of posts that together comprise a programme of postgraduate training in a given specialty or subspecialty. A programme may deliver the full curriculum through linked stages to a CCT, or the programme may deliver different component elements of the approved curriculum.

Promoting excellence: standards for medical education and training

# Email: gmc@gmc-uk.org Website: www.gmc-uk.org Telephone: 0161 923 6602

General Medical Council, 3 Hardman Street, Manchester M3 3AW

Textphone: **please dial the prefix 18001** then **0161 923 6602** to use the Text Relay service

#### Join the conversation

@gmcuk
facebook.com/gmcuk
linkd.in/gmcuk
youtube.com/gmcuktv

# To ask for this publication in Welsh, or in another format or language, please call us on **0161 923 6602** or email us at **publications@gmc-uk.org**.

Published July 2015 © 2015 General Medical Council

The text of this document may be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium providing it is reproduced accurately and not in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as GMC copyright and the document title specified.

ISBN: 978-0-901458-70-4

The GMC is a charity registered in England and Wales (1089278) and Scotland (SC037750).

Code: GMC/PE/0715

General Medical Council